Agenda - Culture, Welsh Language and
Communications Committee

Meeting Venue: For further information contact:
Committee Room 2 - Senedd Steve George

Meeting date: 26 September 2018 Committee Clerk

Meeting time: 09.30 0300 200 6565

SeneddCWLC@assembly.wales

1 Introductions, apologies, substitutions and declarations of

interest
(09:30)

2 Short inquiry into ‘Building an S4C for the future: An independent

review by Euryn Ogwen Williams’: Evidence session 4

(09:30 - 09:45) (Pages 1 - 16)
Rhodri Talfan Davies, Head of BBC Cymru Wales

Elan Closs Stephens, BBC board member for Wales

Nick Andrews, Head of Commissioning

3 Annual Scrutiny of BBC Cymru Wales
(09:45 - 11:00) (Pages 17 - 33)
Rhodri Talfan Davies, Head of BBC Cymru Wales
Elan Closs Stephens, BBC board member for Wales

Nick Andrews, Head of Commissioning
Download:
BBC Annual Report and Accounts 2017/18:

http://downloads.bbc.co.uk/aboutthebbc/insidethebbc/reports/pdf/bbc_ann
ualreport_201718.pdf

,Ff Cynulliad National
/’ Cenedlaethol Assembly for

Cymru Wales


http://downloads.bbc.co.uk/aboutthebbc/insidethebbc/reports/pdf/bbc_annualreport_201718.pdf
http://downloads.bbc.co.uk/aboutthebbc/insidethebbc/reports/pdf/bbc_annualreport_201718.pdf

BBC Wales Management Review 2016/17:
http://downloads.bbc.co.uk/aboutthebbc/wales /BBC-Wales—Nations-
English-1617.pdf

Paper(s) to note
(11:00)
Film and major television production in Wales: Reply from Pinewood
(Pages 34 - 37)
Motion under Standing Order 17.42 to resolve to exclude the

public from the meeting for the following business:

Private debrief
(11:00 -11:15)

Read all about it - inquiry into news journalism in Wales:
Consideration of Welsh Government response

(11:15-11:30) (Pages 38 - 44)
Ofcom review of rules for prominence of public service

broadcasters and local TV: Consideration of consultation response
(11:30 - 11:40) (Pages 45 - 49)

Ofcom consultation page: https://www.ofcom.org.uk/consultations-and-

statements/category-1/epg-code-prominence-regime

The role of arts and culture in addressing poverty and social

exclusion: Consideration of scoping paper
(11:40 - 12:00) (Pages 50 - 55)


http://downloads.bbc.co.uk/aboutthebbc/wales/BBC-Wales-Nations-English-1617.pdf
http://downloads.bbc.co.uk/aboutthebbc/wales/BBC-Wales-Nations-English-1617.pdf
https://www.ofcom.org.uk/consultations-and-statements/category-1/epg-code-prominence-regime
https://www.ofcom.org.uk/consultations-and-statements/category-1/epg-code-prominence-regime

By virtue of paragraph(s) vi of Standing Order 17.42 Ag e n d a I te m 2

Document is Restricted

Pack Page 1



Agenda Item 3

Document is Restricted

Pack Page 17



Agenda ltem 4.1 |

PINEWOOD

24 July 2018

Bethan Sayed AM

National Assembly for Wales

Culture, Welsh Language and Communications Committee
Cardiff Bay

Cardiff

CF99 1NA

'Z@A@Df%

| refer to your letter dated 29 June 2018 and the various questions raised therein. |
have set out these questions below for ease of reference and have provided
responses in blue font.

The Committee has heard that the height of the building used for Pinewood Studio
Wales is a limiting factor on the range of productions that can use the site, and that
the decision to use this building was solely Pinewood’s.
e [s it true that the choice of this building was solely down to Pinewood?
e To what extent has the height of the building limited the number of
productions that can use the studio?
o What are the roof heights of Pinewood'’s other studios?

As is explained in the Wales Audit Office Report, a search was undertaken by Welsh
Government officials to identify suitable sites based on Pinewood's specific
requirements. Pinewood shortlisted two sites. Pinewood subsequently identified the
former Energy Centre building at Wentloog as the better of the two shortlisted
options.

Productions that need to hang lighting from the ceiling will not be able to use the
facilities due to the height and weight loading of the roof.

The roof heights of facilities at other Pinewood studios is available on the Pinewood
website.

Pinewood Group Limited
Pinewood Studios, Pinewood Road, ver Heath, Buckinghamshire, SLO ONH United Kingdom
T:+44(0)1753 651700 Email:info@pinewoodgroup.com
a@lk@&@@daﬁp.com

Registered in England No 3889552  Registered Office: Pinewood Studios, Pinewood Road, Iver Heath, Bucks, England SLO ONH



PINEWOOD

The Committee has heard that internal changes in Pinewood reduced the
company’s appetite for its role in the collaboration agreement it had with the Welsh
Government.

e s this an accurate characterisation?

e How did the internal changes within Pinewood change the company’s desire
to partake in the collaboration agreement with the Welsh Government?

In 2017, Pinewood management decided to end activities relating to fund management
and investment advisory services to third party funds. This decision was taken as
these activities did not represent Pinewood’s core offerings.

The Committee has heard that Pinewood was selected to collaborate with the Welsh
Government following its involvement in a similar media investment fund in the Isle
of Man.
o What is the current nature of Pinewood’s relationship with the Isle of Man
Government?
o What is the current status of the Isle of Man’s media investment fund? Has it
generated enough commercial returns to become self-sustaining?

The agreement Pinewood had with the Isle of Man Government expired in 2017.
Pinewood cannot advise on the current status of the Isle of Man’s media investment
fund for reasons of confidentiality.

Under the original collaboration agreement Pinewood managed the Media
Investment Budget on behalf of the Welsh Government. Paragraph 2.7 of the WAO
report states that the original business plan for the Media Investment Budget had
estimated that there would be a Welsh spend of £90 million, which would represent
a leverage ratio of 1:3 in terms of public to private spending. However, in November
2016 the actual ratio was 1:1. In paragraph 2.10 it is noted that Pinewood executives
have stated that, based on their records, they project a recoupment ratio of 1:6.
e Can Pinewood provide further evidence to back up its estimate of a 1:6
recoupment ratio?
e How does Pinewood explain the vast difference between its and the Welsh
Government’s view on this matter?

Our records indicate that up to end of October 2016:

Budgets of productions coming to Wales = £75,805,514

Gross funding provided by MIB = £8,178,463

Projected recoupment (as at October 2016) = £6,222,733

Estimated Welsh spend (as at October 2016) = £13,182,150

This represents an approximate 1.6 Funding vs Spend ratio on then projected
recoupment.

Pack Page 35



PINEWOOD

The Committee heard (from Ron Jones) that the projects submitted by Pinewood to
the Media Investment Panel for Media Investment Budget funding in the first year
had too low a chance of being commercially successful.
o Were these concemns raised with Pinewood by the Welsh Government or
Media Investment Panel?
o Can they provide evidence to counter this view?

Current management are not aware of any such concerns having been raised.

The WAO report states:
Pinewood executives told us that the opening of a new film and TV production
studio by Bad Wolf Studios (Wales) Ltd in Trident Park, Cardiff, in May 2017
had a detrimental impact on the occupancy of Pinewood Studio Wales. The
number of enquiries they received for it had fallen as a consequence,
although demand for Pinewood studios within the UK remains strong.
Under the original agreement, the Welsh Government signed-up to a five-year
exclusivity agreement not to build another studio in Wales without Pinewood’s
approval. The Committee heard that Pinewood agreed to the Welsh Government’s
support for Bad Wolf Studios.
e Can they provide evidence that appetite for Pinewood Studios Wales has
reduced since the opening of Bad Wolf Studios?
e How can they explain the “detrimental impact” on Pinewood of the opening of
Bad Wolf Studios, given that so far Bad Wolf Studios has only been used by
Bad Wolf productions?
o Why did they agree to waive the exclusivity agreement so that the Welsh
Government could invest in Bad Wolf Studios?

Increased supply arising from the opening of Bad Wolf Studios has impacted on the
demand for studio space at the Wentloog site with a reduction in inquiries being
received.

As part of the negotiations for the new studio management arrangements, Pinewood
agreed to waive any claim it may have had as a result of the breach of the exclusivity
provisions under the previous arrangements.

The WAOQ report states that the Pinewood Wales Studio has a projected annual
revenue of £714,000. At the previous committee session with the Cabinet Secretary
and Minister, the Cabinet Secretary told Members that Pinewood was “operating at
capacity”.
e Given current levels of activity at the studio, what is the projected annual
revenue for the current financial year?
o What revenue has the studio generated since the new Management Services
Agreement began in November 2017?
o What have the occupancy rates been in the studio since the new
Management Services Agreement began in November 2017?

Pack Page 36



PINEWOOD

Pinewood is not responsible for projecting annual revenue. Given the studio is now
owned by the Welsh Government and merely operated by Pinewood on its behalf,
questions regarding revenue are more appropriately posed to the Welsh Government.
Our records indicate that occupancy rate for Stages 1-3 from Nov 2017 to end June
2018 was 44.12%. The Welsh Government manage the office tenants, so we have
no visibility on occupancy rates for the offices.

UAAa > 2 <)

= —

Andrew M Smith
Corporate Affairs Director

Pack Page 37



Agenda ltem 7

Written Response by the Welsh Government to the report of the Culture, Welsh
Language and Communications Committee — Read all about It
Inquiry into News Journalism in Wales

We welcome the findings and offer the following response to the recommendations
in the report.

Recommendation 1. We recommend that the Welsh Government should formally
recognise that supporting public interest journalism in Wales is a strategic priority
and fundamental to democracy in Wales.

Accept in Principle

The Welsh Government has argued for some time that a vibrant media sector is an
essential component of a modern democratic society. As a nation with its own
language, culture and political institutions, a strong and independent media is
essential to provide a comprehensive service that informs, educates and inspires the
people of Wales.

Financial Implications — None

Recommendation 2. We recommend that the Welsh Government should nurture
and encourage the hyperlocal sector as a way of encouraging new entrants to the
market and supporting innovative approaches to the provision of local news
journalism.

Accept

The Welsh Government has already committed to providing £100k in 2018-19 and
£100k in 2019-20 to support journalists seeking to set up their own business in
hyper-local news. This is additional to the existing support for businesses through
Business Wales.

During the Cabinet Secretary’s appearance before the Committee in October 2017,
he said he wanted this funding to be used to support skills development in hyper-
local journalism, to improve the proportion of journalists who are qualified and are
accessing credible sources of news to inform their work. This is a very positive
development and will be a significant boost to the industry.

Financial Implications — Additional funding has already been agreed.

Recommendation 3. We recommend that the Welsh Government should use the
£100,000 funding in 2018-19 and 2019-20 for a contestable scheme that is available
to both new entrants and to support innovation and sustainability among current
operators.

Response: Accept in Principle

Pack Page 38



The Welsh Government will consider this recommendation.

Welsh Government officials have already commissioned a piece of additional
research to establish where funding for hyper local journalism would have most
impact and provide maximum added value. The research will focus on the current
size and characteristics of the hyper local journalism sector; areas of market failure
and barriers to setting up hyper local journalism businesses; support currently
available e.g. training and other organisational support; other opportunities to
increase professionalism and sustainability; and the case for providing funding to
existing hyper local journalism businesses as well as to start ups.

Financial Implications — Additional funding has already been agreed.

Recommendation 4. We recommend that the Welsh Government considers
establishing publicly-funded arm’s length news hubs, in light of the lack of market
viability of local news provision in many areas of Wales.

Response: Reject

The Welsh Government accepts that plurality of high-quality news in both Welsh and
English is vitally important, but proposals for broadening and enhancing a strong and
independent news sector in Wales must come from the industry itself. We will
discuss this further via our normal dialogue with news providers across Wales.

Financial Implications — None.

Recommendation 5. We recommend that the Welsh Government should carry out a
full evaluation of the success of the £100k funding once the first year of funding
comes to an end to inform decisions about how the funding should be used in future.

Response: Accept

As part of the project architecture, evaluation criteria will be agreed so that outputs
and short term outcomes can be monitored at the end of both tranches of funding i.e.
2018/19 and 2019/20.

The evaluation will monitor against the objectives outlined in the Hyper Local
Journalism specification and additional information gained as a result of research
undertaken.

Financial Implications — None. Any costs will be drawn from existing programme
budgets.

Recommendation 6. We recommend that the Welsh Government carries out an
audit of its spending on advertising statutory notices, on the amount spent by other
public bodies in Wales funded by the Welsh Government and on the amount spent
by local government. It should then consult widely on whether there are more cost
effective ways of publicising statutory notices and on how any savings released can
be reinvested in supporting public interest news journalism.

Pack Page 39



Recommendation 8. We recommend that the Welsh Government considers
whether part of any funds released through modernising the publication of statutory
notices should be used to create a similar body to the Knight Foundation in the USA,
which offers seed-corn funding for small start-up news organisations.

Recommendation 9. We recommend that the Welsh Government urgently identifies
the changes necessary within its competence to enable statutory notices to be
published by hyperlocal and online providers and ensures that all future legislation
introduced into the Assembly implements these changes where appropriate. Any
savings made as a result of lower advertising costs from increased competition
should be redirected through targeted funding toward public interest journalism.

Recommendation 10. We recommend that the Welsh Government clarifies to local
authorities and other relevant statutory bodies in Wales the freedom they have to
place statutory notices online, where current legislation allows this.

Combined response to 6, 8, 9, and 10: Accept in principle

The Welsh Government will consider the feasibility of undertaking an audit of its
spending on advertising statutory notices. It is a matter for public bodies in Wales
funded by the Welsh Government, as well as local Government, to consider whether
they should do likewise. Should an audit of Welsh Government spending be
undertaken, we would share any lessons learned with public bodies and local
Government across Wales, and encourage them to consider whether an audit of
their own expenditure in this area might then be appropriate.

We should however be mindful that there is a fundamental contradiction at the heart
of these recommendations; that is, if the public sector removes the bulk of its
advertising from local newspapers it could significantly weaken an already fragile
industry in many areas, thus potentially reducing access to local news. Additionally it
is unclear how we might ensure that savings generated by organisations outside the
Welsh Government could be ring-fenced for re-investment in news journalism
services - whether that might be done via a new organisation, by targeting funding or
by other means. Previous consultations have also highlighted the problems inherent
in such a change.

The Welsh Government will consider recommendations 8 and 9 further - subject to
the caveats outlined above and any future Ministerial decisions that may be needed.

In relation to recommendation 10, there is already a good understanding of the
current obligations and available options for publishing statutory notices. We will
ensure, via our normal dialogue with local government and other public sector
bodies, that this remains the case - and that they highlight any issues that may need
to be addressed to allow them to publish statutory notices in the most effective
manner.

Financial Implications — None

Pack Page 40



Recommendation 7. We recommend that Google and Facebook consider how they
can improve their support for news journalism in Wales

Response: Not a recommendation for the Welsh Government

This is matter for the two organisations to consider, but Welsh Government officials
will share the Committee’s recommendation with the Google and Facebook and seek
a response.

Financial Implications — None

Recommendation 11. We recommend that the Welsh Government facilitates
contact between representatives of the hyperlocal sector, Media Wales and other
large news providers to investigate areas of possible collaboration and syndication
agreements between them.

Response: Accept in Principle

We will, through our normal dialogue with news providers of all sizes across Wales,
encourage them to investigate any possible further areas of collaboration, including
but not limited to syndication agreements. Cooperation and resource sharing already
takes place (e.g.; the BBC’s Local Democracy Reporter Service, where the BBC
funds reporters employed by other organisations, ranging from radio stations to
online media companies and established regional newspaper groups), but it is right
to both test the effectiveness of such measures and to look for other areas where
added value can be achieved by working together.

Financial Implications — None

Recommendation 12. We recommend that the Welsh Government reconsiders its
decision not to establish an independent media forum.

Response: Reject

Establishing an independent media forum was not a commitment in the Welsh
Government’s Programme for Government. The Minister for Culture, Sport and
Tourism is unpersuaded that creating another forum or group would deliver
additional benefit. It is our aim to simplify ways of working across this portfolio and to
be consistent in doing so, in line with the recent winding down of a number of
Economy and Transport advisory panels. Instead we are continuing to build upon the
strong relationships which already exist between the Welsh Government and
external organisations. The Minister and officials meet various individuals and
groups relevant to his portfolio responsibilities and take advice from them
accordingly.

Financial Implications — None

Pack Page 41



Recommendation 13. We recommend that the Welsh Government, either as part of
the role of an independent forum or directly itself, investigates sustainable business
models for news journalism in Wales.

Response: Accept in Principle
The Welsh Government will consider this recommendation.

The ability of Welsh stakeholders to influence the sustainability of news journalism
within Wales may be limited, depending on the scale and reach of the news services
involved and the ownership, governance and regulatory arrangements of existing
and emerging news organisations and of distribution platforms. Action to effectively
address this issue may therefore require cooperation at a UK level.

We will consider taking forward an investigation into this issue and whether it is
viable to do so for Wales only, or whether a broader, collaborative investigation is
required at a UK level. The latter would require the agreement of other governments
and stakeholders across the UK; with this in mind no firm timeline for confirming or
concluding this work can be set at this stage.

Financial Implications — None at this stage.

Recommendation 14. We recommend that the Welsh Government, either through
establishing an independent forum or directly itself, reviews the BBC’s Local
Democracy Reporting Service.

Response: Reject

It is a matter for the BBC and its partner organisations to review the BBC’s Local
Democracy Reporting Service. We will of course maintain a watching brief and liaise
with the BBC, other broadcasters and Ofcom as appropriate, in relation to the BBC
and other broadcasters’ performance in delivering and supporting effective news
provision in Wales.

Financial Implications — None

Recommendation 15. We recommend that the BBC review the Local Democracy
Reporting Service after 6 months of operation. The review should fully consider
alternative models for the service, including the “wire service” we have
recommended previously and news hubs. It should also examine concerns that the
service will be used by host organisations to replace existing provision, rather than
provide additional content. The findings of the review should be published in full.

Response: Not a recommendation for the Welsh Government

It is a matter for the BBC to review the BBC’s Local Democracy Reporting Service
and to decide on the most appropriate timescale for doing so. That said, we agree

Pack Page 42



that the effectiveness of this service should be tested, and that the BBC should look
to do so as soon as is reasonable.

Financial Implications — None

Recommendation 16. We recommend that the Welsh Government commits to a
continued investment in Welsh language journalism at the current level at least.

Response: Accept in Principle

The Welsh Government’s support for Welsh language journalism is currently
channelled through the Welsh Books Council and the Welsh Government’s Welsh
Language Division.

The Welsh Government has set a target of one million Welsh speakers by 2050.
Plurality and being able to choose between Welsh-language media channels is a
good thing for Welsh speakers. We will need to consider whether further support for
Welsh language journalism should be provided against other competing funding
priorities.

Financial Implications — None at this stage.

Recommendation 17. We recommend that the Welsh Books Council explore the
creation of an easy to access Welsh-language news hub where non-BBC Welsh-
language publications supported by the Welsh Books Council can publish their
content.

Response: Not a recommendation for the Welsh Government

As this is a matter for the Welsh Books Council, we have asked the Council to
consider this recommendation and how it could be implemented.

Financial Implications — None at this stage. Any additional costs will be drawn
from existing programme budgets.

Recommendation 18. We recommend that the Welsh Government engages with
the UK Government to encourage it to re-visit the local media sector as a whole in
light of the local TV scheme’s failure to offer a long-term solution to the lack of
plurality and shortage of public-interest journalism in this field.

Response: Accept in Principle

The Welsh Government will consider this recommendation.

We agree that this initiative has not delivered as the UK Government intended and

that the challenges faced in Wales with regard to lack of plurality and public-interest
journalism have not been significantly impacted by local TV.

Pack Page 43



In common with recommendation 13, the ability of Welsh stakeholders to stimulate
and grow a sustainable local media sector within Wales may be limited, depending
on the scale and reach of the services involved and the ownership, governance and
regulatory arrangements of existing and emerging local media providers and of
distribution platforms. It is right therefore to engage with the UK Government (and
the other devolved administrations) to discuss and agree actions to effectively
address this issue at both a UK and a national level. A request to Ofcom for further
analysis of lessons learned from the local TV rollout may also be required — this
might best be done at a UK level.

As with recommendation 13, we will consider taking forward an investigation into this
issue and we will discuss with the UK Government and other devolved
administrations whether this would best be a single piece of work covering the whole
of the UK (with appropriate consideration of the issues in each nation), or whether
separate, nation specific assessments are needed. As this will require the agreement
of other governments and stakeholders across the UK, no firm timeline for confirming
or concluding this work can be set at this stage.

Financial Implications — None at this stage.

Pack Page 44



By virtue of paragraph(s) vi of Standing Order 17.42 Ag e n d a I te m 8

Document is Restricted

Pack Page 45



Agenda Item 9

Document is Restricted

Pack Page 50



	Agenda
	2 Short inquiry into ‘Building an S4C for the future: An independent review by Euryn Ogwen Williams’: Evidence session 4
	3 Annual Scrutiny of BBC Cymru Wales
	4.1 Film and major television production in Wales: Reply from Pinewood
	7 Read all about it - inquiry into news journalism in Wales: Consideration of Welsh Government response
	8 Ofcom review of rules for prominence of public service broadcasters and local TV: Consideration of consultation response
	9 The role of arts and culture in addressing poverty and social exclusion: Consideration of scoping paper

